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 Emu NL 
 

Review of Operations 
 
ACTIVITIES 
(Strategic approach) 
Emu continues to assess opportunities in mineral exploration, mine development, and mine operations in Australia and overseas.  Selective 
investments in the listed shares of companies operating in the mineral resource sector continue, albeit at a reduced level commensurate 
with risk and value propositions.  
 
(Chilean assets) 
During the year, the Company significantly progressed the exploration of the two projects entered into by way of options as announced to 
the ASX on 15 November 2016.  
 
In October 2017, Emu announced the start of the 2017-18 exploration season with geological mapping and geochemical sampling initiated 
ahead of a planned drilling campaign.  Soil sampling was directed at areas exhibiting high gold and silver values in surface rock chip 
assays.   
 
The start of the 2018 drilling campaign, announced to the market on 12 January 2018, signified the first major drill testing of the conjectured 
epithermal gold-silver target at the Vidalita Prospect.  Despite numerous drilling difficulties, the Company announced the completion of 
36 drill holes for a total of 5,451m drilling that confirmed the discovery of a significant epithermal gold-silver system (ASX released 
7 May 2018 and 18 July 2018).  This drilling established that the Vidalita epithermal system is highly mineralised, with grades of up to 
2.8g/t gold, 1,049g/t silver, 5.4% copper, 2.2% lead, and 3.7% zinc.  The following gold and silver intercepts are noteworthy (down hole 
widths, true width unknown): 
 

Interval 
m 

Gold grade 
g/t 

From 
m Hole Within broader 

interval m 
Gold Grade 

g/t 
From 

m 
7 1.12 166 5300-2 21 0.54 157 
8 1.02 50 5300-2 52 0.46 50 
8 1.10 68 5300-4 48 0.64 44 
8 0.70 28 5100-4 40 0.39 12 
4 1.06 92 5100-4 8 0.59 88 
2 0.68 217 5700-1 70 0.23 174 

 

Interval 
m 

Silver grade 
g/t 

From 
m Hole Within broader 

interval m 
Silver grade 

g/t 
From 

m 
8 33 40 4900-1 28 23 36 
1 58 166 5300-2 8 15 163 
1 1,049 216 5700-1 6 211 215 
2 177 253 5700-1 6 93 251 
4 148 52 6500-2 16 88 44 

 
More importantly, it has been demonstrated that the system is potentially very large with a thick intercept of 162m at 0.13g/t gold obtained 
(Figure 1).   
 
At Peon 4, a soil geochemistry survey outlined a distinct anomalous zone enriched in all epithermal pathfinder elements.  This zone is on 
trend with Cacique, an Anglo American gold discovery to the north-east (ASX release 16 May 2018). 
 
Planning for the 2018-19 drilling season is now well underway.  The aims of this drilling campaign are to: 

 Test for a maiden shallow silver and gold resource at Vidalita 
 Extend the gold, silver, and base metal intercepts from last season’s drilling at Vidalita 
 Undertake an initial test of the Peon 4 gold soil geochemistry 
 Undertake an initial test of the Jotahues gold rock chip target 

 
In addition, newly acquired ground at Arroyo Ancho will be geologically reconnoitred and prospected for gold mineralisation.  This 
concession, immediately north of Vidalita, is noted for its pervasive epithermal style alteration and represents an as yet unexplored area in 
the rich and productive Maricunga Belt. Arroyo Ancho is 100% owned by Emu. 
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 Emu NL 
 

Review of Operations (continued) 
 
 
 

 
Figure 1  Section 5300N, Vidalita.  Gold grade histogram in gold, silver in green. This is a preliminary, 
simplified geological interpretation based on sparse data and subject to change as more data comes to hand.  
Note the two styles of mineralisation represented: a vuggy silica hosted silver-gold style, and a volcanic breccia 
hosted gold-silver-base metals style.  Co-ordinate system is WGS84/UTM19S. 

 
 
(Corporate) 

A total of 4,051,843 contributing shares were converted at the outstanding amount of $0.03 during the reporting period raising $121,556. 
A further $34,200 was raised through the issue of 1,140,000 partly paid contributing shares at $0.03. 

Approximately $600,000 was raised by a share placement of ~12,290,553 shares to sophisticated and wholesale investors (ASX release 
25 June 2018).  The placement was made in part under the 15% placement rule and as to the balance with prior shareholder approval (ASX 
release 29 August 2018). 
 
On 2 July 2018, the Company announced that Mr Greg Steemson stepped down as Managing Director to continue serving the shareholders 
as a Non-executive Director. 
 
Activities in the USA having completely ceased; American Emu Inc. was dissolved with no legacy issues remaining. 
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 Emu NL 
 

Review of Operations (continued) 
 
ASX WAIVER – APPROVAL TO ISSUE SHARES 
 
On 8 February 2017, the Company received shareholder approvals for the issue of up to 15 million shares (Consideration Shares; 
2,500,000 of which were issued immediately) in respect of Emu’s Option Agreement.  
(a) The following information is provided in accordance with a waiver granted by ASX permitting the Company to issue the balance 

of the Consideration Shares (12,500,000) more than 3 months after the date of shareholder approval:12,500,000 of the 

Consideration Shares remain, conditionally, to be issued; and 

(b) the conditions to and instalments in which the remainder of the Consideration Shares may be issued were/are: 

(i) 2,500,000 (approved for issue no later than 31 March 2019) if the Company elects to continue exploring the Projects and 

subject to it meeting its expenditure commitment in relation to the Projects (minimum of US$1 million by 

10 December 2018) and 

(ii) 5,000,000 (approved for issue no later than 31 December 2020) if the Company exercises the option and defines a 500,000-

ounce measured resource of gold on the Projects the subject of Emu’s Option Agreement; and 

(iii) 5,000,000 (approved for issue no later than 31 December 2020) if the Company exercises the option and defines a 

1,000,000-ounce measured resource of gold on the Projects the subject of Emu’s Option Agreement. 

 
COMPETENT PERSON’S STATEMENT 

The details in this report pertaining to exploration results, mineral resources and mineral reserves are based upon information compiled by 
Mr Marcus Flis, General Manager of Emu NL. Mr Flis is a Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (FAusIMM) and 
has sufficient experience in the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 edition of the 
“Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves” (JORC Code). Mr Flis consents to the 
inclusion in this report of the matters based upon his information in the form and context in which they appear. 

For the purposes of this Report, “the Group” is comprised of Emu NL and its wholly owned subsidiaries Emu Blue Pty Ltd and Emu Chile 
SpA. 
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Directors' Report  
 

6 

Your directors submit their report on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the Group) consisting of Emu NL and the entities it 
controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2018. 

DIRECTORS 
The names and details of the Company's directors in office during the year and until the date of this report follow. Each Director was in 
office for this entire period unless otherwise stated. 

Names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities  

Peter Thomas, (Non-Executive Chairman) 
Mr Thomas has served on numerous ASX listed company boards for over 30 years. 
For over 30 years until June 2011, he ran a legal practise on his own account specialising in the delivery of wide ranging legal, corporate 
and commercial advice to listed explorers and miners. 
Mr Thomas was the founding non-executive chairman of Sandfire Resources NL (2004), was the founding non-executive chairman of Emu 
NL (29 August 2007) and currently serves as a non-executive Director of Image Resources NL (since 19 April 2002) and as the non-
executive Chairman of Middle Island Resources Limited (since 2 March 2010). 

Greg Steemson, (Non-Executive Director; Managing Director until 30 June 2018) 
Mr Steemson is a graduate of the University of Queensland and the University of Utah and is a qualified geologist and geophysicist.  He 
has 40 years of experience over a wide range of geographies and commodities including gold, base metals, iron ore, diamonds, coal, mineral 
sands, phosphate, uranium and rare earth elements.  He has operated in many different jurisdictions throughout the world and at most levels 
of the mineral industry from green-fields exploration to resource and project development through to mining.  Mr Steemson was a founding 
director of Sandfire Resources NL and Allied Gold Limited. He was a director of Allied Gold Limited, Carbine Resources Limited, Mineral 
Commodities Limited and Nord Pacific Limited. 

Gavin Rutherford, (Non-Executive Director) 

Mr Rutherford’s background is in Agribusiness on both domestic and international stages followed by over 20 years in the Mining 
Services/Fabrication/Contracting sector. This includes Managing Directorship of a contracting and construction company operating in the 
water space. Current activities include project development in the renewable energy space and business development in the indigenous 
mining segment, and aviation related interests. 

COMPANY SECRETARY  

Damien Kelly 

Mr Kelly is the founder and principal of Western Tiger Corporate Advisers. He has broad corporate and commercial experience spanning 
over 18 years, providing professional services to ASX and AIM listed companies predominately in the mining and energy sector.  

He has an MBA, Bachelor of Commerce, a Graduate Diploma in Applied Finance and Investment and is a former officer in the armed 
services, having graduated from the Royal Military College, Duntroon.  

He is a fellow of the Financial Services Institute of Australia (FinSIA) and a member of CPA Australia. 

Interests in the shares and options of the Company and related bodies corporate 

As at the date of signing this report, the relevant interests of the directors in the shares and options of Emu NL were: 
 Ordinary Shares Contributing Shares Options over 

Ordinary Shares 

Peter Thomas 7,782,967 7,670,651 1,000,000 
Greg Steemson 8,507,012 8,570,884 1,750,000 
Gavin Rutherford 2,486,365 1,313,397 1,000,000 
 18,776,344 17,554,932 3,750,000 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
The principal activities of the Group during the year were (i) to explore its mineral interests in Chile, (ii) assess and pursue mineral property 
acquisition opportunities globally, and (iii) invest in shares in listed resource sector entities with the objective of offsetting operating 
expenses. 
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DIVIDENDS 
No dividends were paid or declared during the year. No recommendation for payment of dividends has been made. 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 

Finance Review 
The Group began the financial year under review with a cash reserve of $2,749,349. 
During the year, total exploration expenditure incurred by the Group amounted to $2,367,685 (2017:  $1,380,847). In line with the Group’s 
accounting policies, all exploration expenditure is expensed as incurred. Other expenditure incurred, net of revenue, amounted to $905,597
(2017: $1,414,462). This resulted in an operating loss after income tax for the year ended 30 June 2018 of $3,273,282 (2017:  $2,795,309).

At 30 June 2018 cash assets available totalled $750,056. The net assets of the Group decreased by $2,387,287 during the year to $315,589
at 30  June 2018, primarily due to a share placement and the exercise of options (less expenditures over the year). The Group’s working 
capital decreased during the year by $2,423,740 to $164,221 at 30 June 2018,  
Summarised operating results are as follows: 2018 

 Revenues 
$ 

Net Loss 
$ 

Revenues and net loss for the year from ordinary activities before income tax expense 16,211 3,273,282 

Shareholder Returns 
 2018 2017 

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents)  (3.01) (3.35) 
   

Risk Management 
The board is responsible for ensuring that risks, and also opportunities, are identified on a timely basis and that activities are aligned with 
the risks and opportunities identified by the board. 
The board believes that it is crucial for all board members to be a part of this process, and, accordingly, all board members form, and 
discharge the obligations of the risk management committee. 
The board has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure that management's objectives and activities are aligned with the risks identified 
by the board.  These include implementation of board approved operating plans and budgets and board monitoring of progress against these 
budgets. 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 
Other than as disclosed in this Annual Report, no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group occurred during the financial year.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE 
No matters or circumstances, besides those disclosed at note 20, have arisen since the end of the year which significantly affected or which 
in the judgement of the board may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of 
the Group in future financial periods. 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS 
In order to make (or to secure the right to make) one or more acquisitions and to further its existing projects, the Group expects to undertake 
capital raisings. Emu’s focus is on making further mineral resource related acquisitions to accrete value to shareholders without triggering 
a requirement to dilute equity capital save when absolutely necessary to make strategic acquisitions. In addition, Emu will pursue resource 
equity investments consistent with the sentiments expressed in the Review of Operations above. 
Other than as set out above, likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of those operations in future 
financial years have not been included in this report as the directors believe, on reasonable grounds, that the inclusion of such information 
would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group. F
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ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE 
The Group is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect to its activities. 
The Group aims to ensure the appropriate standard of environmental care is achieved, and in doing so, that it is aware of and complies with 
all environmental legislation. The directors of the Company are not aware of any breach of environmental legislation for the year under 
review. 

REMUNERATION REPORT 
The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Policy principles used/to be used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

Remuneration Policy 
The remuneration policy of Emu NL is designed to align key management personnel objectives with shareholder and business objectives 
by providing a fixed remuneration component. The board of Emu NL believes the remuneration policy for the year under review was 
appropriate and effective to attract and retain suitable key management personnel to run and manage the Group. Consideration has been 
and will continue to be given to offering specific short- and long-term incentives including, specifically, equity remuneration. 
The remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for the executive directors and other senior executives (if any), was developed 
by the board. In general in respect of the year under review, executives received a base salary (which was based on factors such as 
experience), superannuation and share-based payments. The board will review executive packages as and when it considers it appropriate 
to do so in accordance with its remuneration policy and by reference to the Group’s performance, executive performance and comparable 
information from industry sectors and other listed companies in similar industries.  
The board may exercise discretion in relation to approving incentives, bonuses and equity remuneration. The policy is to reward executives 
for performance that results in long-term growth in shareholder wealth. 

The executive directors and executives receive, where required by law, a superannuation guarantee contribution required by the government 
of Australia, which was 9.5% for the 2018 financial year but are not entitled to receive any other retirement benefits. 
All remuneration paid to directors and executives is “valued” at the cost to the Group and expensed. Where applicable, options granted as 
equity remuneration are ascribed a “fair value” in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 
The board’s policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies for time, commitment and 
responsibilities, albeit that the non-executive directors are currently remunerated at or below the lower end of the market rate range; 
certainly in cash terms. The board determines payments to the non-executive directors and the policy is to effect reviews of remuneration 
annually, based on market practice, duties and accountability. The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid annually to 
non-executive directors is currently $250,000 and can only be increased with the approval of shareholders in General Meeting. Fees for 
non-executive directors are not linked to the performance of the Group. However, to align directors’ interests with shareholder interests, 
the directors are encouraged to hold shares in the Company and are able to participate in equity remuneration arrangements. 

Company performance, shareholder wealth and key management personnel remuneration 
There is no relationship between the financial performance of the Company for the current or previous financial year and the remuneration 
of the key management personnel.  Remuneration is set having regard to market conditions and to encourage continued services of key 
management personnel. 

Use of remuneration consultants 
The Group did not employ the services of any remuneration consultants during the financial year ended 30 June 2018. 
  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



 
 Emu NL 

 

Directors' Report (continued) 
 

9 

 
Details of remuneration 
Details of the remuneration of the directors and the key management personnel of the Group are set out in the following table. 
The Key Management Personnel (KMP) of the Group include the directors as per page 6 above and the general manager. 
 
Key management personnel of the Group 

 Short-Term Post-Employment 
Share-based 

Payments  Total  

 
Salary 
& Fees Non-Monetary Superannuation 

Retirement 
benefits  

 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Directors      
Peter Thomas      
2018 44,000 - 4,180 - -  48,180 
2017 44,000 - 4,180 - 92,000 140,180 
Greg Steemson      
2018 223,400 - - - -  223,400 
2017 264,000 - - - 161,000 425,000 
Gavin Rutherford      
2018 22,000 - 2,090 - -  24,090 
2017 22,000 - 2,090 - 92,000 116,090 
General Managers       
2018 93,191 - 9,122 - - 102,313 
2017 - - - - - - 

Total key management personnel compensation     
2018 382,591 - 15,392 - -  397,983 
2017 330,000 - 6,270 - 345,000 681,270 

*See ‘Share based compensation’ (below) 

Written Service agreements 

Greg Steemson, Managing Director to 30 June 2018 – Non-Executive Director from 1 July 2018: 
A consulting agreement was executed between the Company and Mr Steemson’s nominated associated entity under which Mr Steemson 
delivered consulting services to the Company. Material provisions of the agreement were as follows: 
• Term of agreement – No fixed term. May be terminated by either party on 2 months’ notice or, at the Company’s election, payment of 

the 2 months’ notice period in lieu of notice. 
• Monthly fee of $20,000 + GST. 
This agreement was terminated effective from 1 July 2018. 

Marcus Flis, General Manager: 
An employment agreement has been executed between the Company and Mr Flis. Material provisions of the agreement are as follows: 
• Term of agreement – No fixed term beyond initial probationary period which ended 31 July 2018. May be terminated by either party 

on 2 months’ notice or, at the Company’s election, payment of the 2 months’ notice period in lieu of notice. 
• Monthly package of $10,833 including statutory superannuation. 
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Share holdings 
The relevant interest held during the financial year by each KMP is set out below. No shares were issued as compensation during the 
reporting period. 
 
2018 

Balance at start 
of the period 

Partly Paid 
Shares 

Converted to 
Fully Paid 

Shares 
Balance at end 
of the period 

Ordinary shares fully paid    
Peter Thomas 6,949,634 833,333 7,782,967 
Greg Steemson 7,507,012 1,000,000 8,507,012 
Gavin Rutherford 1,819,698 666,667 2,486,365 
Marcus Flis -  -  -  
 16,276,344 2,500,000 18,776,344 
Ordinary shares partly paid to $0.03    
Peter Thomas 8,503,984 (833,333) 7,670,651 
Greg Steemson 9,570,884 (1,000,000) 8,570,884 
Gavin Rutherford 1,980,064 (666,667) 1,313,397 
Marcus Flis -  -  -  
 20,054,932 (2,500,000) 17,554,932 
 
Option holdings 
The relevant interest in options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of Emu NL and other 
key management personnel of the Group is set out below (Note 1): 
 
2018 Balance at 

start of the 
year 

Granted as 
compensation Exercised Lapsed 

Other 
changes 

Balance at 
end of the 

year 

Vested and 
exercisable 

(Note 2) Unvested 
Peter Thomas 1,000,000 -  --  -  -  1,000,000 1,000,000 -  
Greg Steemson 1,750,000 -  -  -  -  1,750,000 1,750,000 -  
Gavin Rutherford 1,000,000 -  -  -  -  1,000,000 1,000,000 -  
Marcus Flis -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  
 3,750,000 -  -  - -  3,750,000 3,750,000 -  

Note 1: Each option on issue (or exercised) during the financial year entitles (or entitled) the holder to one fully paid ordinary share in the capital of the 
Company if the options is exercised. All are (or were) able to be exercised at any time until the expiry date. None of the options granted were subject to any 
vesting or other performance conditions and no amount was paid or payable by the recipients in respect of the grant of the options.  

Note 2: All vested options were able to be exercised at the end of the year under review.  

Other equity-related KMP transactions 
There have been no other transactions during the financial year involving equity instruments apart from those described in the tables above 
relating to options, rights and shareholdings. 

Loans to key management personnel 
There were no loans to key management personnel during the year. 

Other transactions with key management personnel 
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to third
parties unless otherwise stated. 

End of audited Remuneration Report 
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DIRECTORS' MEETINGS 
During the year the Company held six meetings of directors. The attendance of directors at meetings of the board were: 

 Directors Meetings 
 A* B** 
Peter Thomas 6 6 
Greg Steemson 6 6 
Gavin Rutherford 6 6 
Notes 
*A – Number of meetings attended. 
**B – Number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year.  
The full board discharged the functions of the audit, remuneration, risk and nomination committees regularly and during the course of 
ordinary director meetings. 

SHARES UNDER OPTION 
Unissued ordinary shares of Emu NL under option at the date of this report are: 

Grant date Expiry date Exercise price (cents) Number of options 
7 March 2017 20 December 2018 10.0  3,750,000 
7 March 2017 20 December 2018 25.0  300,000 

7 August 2017* 20 December 2018 10.0  1,000,000 
30 August 2018** 20 December 2018 11.0  2,000,000 

Total number of options outstanding at the date of this report  7,050,000 

* 500,000 options issued to each of the Company’s Secretary and Senior Geologist or their nominees. 

** 2,000,000 options issued to the General Manager, subject to various vesting conditions 

No option holder has any right under the options, save upon exercise, to participate in any share issue of the Company or any other entity.
Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one fully paid ordinary share in the capital of Emu NL. 
Other than as set out above or elsewhere in this annual report, no options have been granted over unissued shares or interests of any 
controlled entity within the Group during or since the end of the reporting period. 

INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS  
During or since the financial year, in accordance with each director’s Deed of Indemnity, Insurance and Access with Emu NL, the Group 
has paid premiums insuring all the directors of Emu NL, to the extent permitted by law, against all liabilities incurred by the director 
acting directly or indirectly as a director of the Company. The cover extends to legal costs incurred by the director in defending 
proceedings, provided that the liabilities for which the director is to be insured do not arise out of conduct involving a wilful breach of 
the director’s duty to the Company or a contravention of sections 182 or 183 of the Corporations Act 2001. 
The total amount of insurance contract premiums paid is $5,964 (2017: $6,731). 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
 

Non-audit services were provided by the entity's auditor, Greenwich & Co or associated entities.  The directors are satisfied that the 
provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 
2001. The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, is compatible with and did not 
compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 
 All non-audit services have been reviewed by the audit committee to ensure they do not impact the impartiality and objectivity of the

auditor; 
 None of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants. 

Greenwich & Co or associated entities received or are due to receive the following amounts for the provision of non-audit services: 

 2018 
$ 

2017 
$ 

Tax compliance services 2,750 2,500 
Total remuneration for non-audit services 2,750 2,500 
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PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the 
Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the 
Company for all or any part of those proceedings. 
No proceedings have been brought, or intervened in, on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under section 237 of the 
Corporations Act 2001.  

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 13. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

Electronic Signature noted as having been affixed with approval 

Peter S Thomas 
Non-Executive Chairman 
Perth, 28 September 2018 
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Auditor's Independence Declaration 
 
To those charged with governance of Emu NL 
 
As auditor for the audit of Emu NL for the year ended 30 June 2018, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge 
and belief, there have been: 
 

i. no contraventions of the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the 
audit; and 
 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

 

Greenwich & Co Audit Pty Ltd 

 

Rafay Nabeel 
Audit Director 

29 September 2018 

Perth 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 

Emu NL reviews its corporate governance practices against the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (3rd edition) 
published by the ASX Corporate Governance Council. 
 
The 2018 Corporate Governance Statement was approved by the board on 28 September 2018. A description of the Group’s current 
corporate governance practices is set out in the Group’s Corporate Governance Statement which can be viewed at www.emu.com.au. 
 
 
 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



 

15 

 
 Emu NL 

 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Performance 
 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 Notes Consolidated 

  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

REVENUE 4 16,211 37,945 
    
EXPENDITURE     
Depreciation expense  (12,220) (3,011) 
Exploration expenses  (2,367,685) (1,380,847) 
Key management personnel compensation 18 (382,951) (681,270) 
Other expenses   (388,863) (349,376) 
Share-based payments expense (Chile project option fee)  -  (400,000) 
Share-based payments expense (non-KMP compensation)  (137,774) (18,750) 

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX  5 (3,273,282) (2,795,309) 

INCOME TAX 6 - - 

LOSS AFTER INCOME TAX   (3,273,282) (2,795,309) 
    
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss    
Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets  42,445  (35,800) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  42,445  (35,800) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
OWNERS OF EMU NL  (3,230,837) (2,831,109) 
    
Basic and diluted loss per share for loss attributable to the ordinary equity 
holders of the Company (cents per share)  22  (3.01)  (3.35) 

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Performance should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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 Emu NL 

 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
 
AT 30 JUNE 2018 Notes Consolidated 

  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

CURRENT ASSETS     
Cash and cash equivalents 7 750,056 2,749,349 
Trade and other receivables  8 96,686 42,884 
Other assets  19,820 3,181 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   866,562 2,795,414 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS     
Available-for-sale financial assets 9 106,258 63,813 
Plant and equipment  10 45,110 51,073 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS   151,368 114,886 

TOTAL ASSETS   1,017,930 2,910,300 

CURRENT LIABILITIES     
Trade and other payables  11 700,760 205,356 
Provisions 12 1,581 2,068 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   702,341 207,424 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   702,341 207,424 

NET ASSETS   315,589 2,702,876 

EQUITY     
Contributed equity  13 14,851,989 14,146,213 
Reserves 14 543,969 363,750 
Accumulated losses   (15,080,369) (11,807,087) 

TOTAL EQUITY   315,589 2,702,876 

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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 Emu NL 

 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 
 

Notes 
Contributed 

Equity 

Share-Based 
Payments 
Reserve 

Available-for-
Sale Asset 

Reserve 
Accumulated 

Losses Total 
Consolidated  $ $ $ $ $ 

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2016  11,175,866 5,720 35,800 (9,011,778) 2,205,608 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME       
Loss for the year  - - -  (2,795,309)  (2,795,309) 
Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale 
financial assets  

- -  (35,800) -  (35,800) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  - -  (35,800)  (2,795,309)  (2,831,109) 
TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS IN THEIR 
CAPACITY AS OWNERS  

     

Issue of shares and options 13  3,054,252   -     -     -     3,054,252  
Share and option issue costs 13  (89,625)  -     -     -     (89,625) 
Transfer to contributed equity 13  5,720   (5,720)  -     -     -    
Share-based payments 14  -     363,750   -     -     363,750  
TOTAL TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS  2,970,347 358,030 -    -    3,328,377 

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2017  14,146,213 363,750 - (11,807,087) 2,702,876 

 

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2017  14,146,213 363,750 - (11,807,087) 2,702,876 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME       
Loss for the year  - - - (3,273,282) (3,273,282) 
Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale 
financial assets  

- - 42,445 - 42,445 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  - - 42,445 (3,273,282) (3,230,837) 
TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS IN THEIR 
CAPACITY AS OWNERS  

     

Issue of shares and options 13c 755,756 - - - 755,756 
Share and option issue costs 13c (49,980) - - - (49,980) 
Share-based payments 14 - 137,774 - - 137,774 
TOTAL TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS  705,776 137,774 - - 843,550 

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2018  14,851,989 501,524 42,445 (15,080,369) 315,589 

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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 Emu NL 
 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 Notes Consolidated 

  2018 2017 
  $ $ 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Payments to suppliers and employees   (295,067) (624,258) 
Expenditure on mining interests   (2,419,956) (1,194,556) 
Interest received   16,211 30,607 
NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  21 (2,698,812) (1,788,207) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
Proceeds on sale of available-for-sale financial assets   -  199,907 
Proceeds from security bond  -  42,325 
Payments for plant and equipment  (6,256) (52,184) 
Payments for available-for-sale financial assets  -  (262,286) 
NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   (6,256) (72,238) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
Proceeds from issues of ordinary shares and options   755,755 2,654,253 
Payments of share and option issue transaction costs  (49,980) (89,625) 
NET CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   705,775 2,564,628 

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   (1,999,293) 704,183 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  2,749,349 2,046,448 
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  -  (1,282) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR  7 750,056 2,749,349 

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. The financial statements are for 
the consolidated entity consisting of Emu NL and its subsidiaries. The financial statements are presented in the Australian currency. Emu 
NL is a no liability company, domiciled and incorporated in Australia. The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors 
on 28 September 2018. The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements. 
 
(a) Basis of preparation 
These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. Emu NL is a for-profit entity for the purpose of 
preparing the financial statements. 

Going concern 
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal business activities 
and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business. 
As disclosed in the financial statements, the Group incurred a loss of $3,230,837 and had net operating cash outflows of $2,698,812. These 
conditions indicate a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
The ability of the entity to continue as a going concern is dependent on securing additional capital raising activities to continue its 
operational and exploration activities. 
Should the entity not be able to continue as a going concern, it may be required to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities other than 
in the ordinary course of business, and at amounts that differ from those stated in the financial statements and that the financial report does 
not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or liabilities that might be necessary 
should the entity not continue as a going concern.  

(i) Compliance with IFRS 
The consolidated financial statements of the Emu NL Group also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

(ii) New and amended standards adopted by the Group 
The Group has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the AASB that are relevant
to its operations and effective (mandatory) for the current annual reporting period. The adoption of these Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations did not have any significant impact on the financial performance or position of the Group during the financial year. 

(iii) Early adoption of standards 
The Group did not elect to apply any pronouncements before their operative date in the annual reporting period beginning 1 July 2017. 

(iv) Historical cost convention and going concern basis 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of selected non-current 
assets, financial assets and financial liabilities for which the fair value basis of accounting has been applied. These financial statements 
have been prepared on the going concern basis. 
 
(b) Principles of consolidation 
(i) Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group 
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 
They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group. 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are 
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries 
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of financial position respectively. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(ii) Changes in ownership interests 
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity owners of the 
Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling 
interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests 
and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of Emu NL. 
When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount 
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest 
as an associate, jointly controlled entity or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 
If the ownership interest in a jointly controlled entity or associate is reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained, only a 
proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
 
(c) Segment reporting 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The 
chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been 
identified as the full board of Directors. 
 
(d) Foreign currency translation 
(i) Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars, which is Emu NL's functional and presentation currency. 

(ii) Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if they are 
attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation. 

(iii) Group companies 
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a 
functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 
 assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement 

of financial position; 
 income and expenses for each statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rates 

(unless that is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case 
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and 

 all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings and other 
financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation 
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit or 
loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale. 
 
(e) Revenue recognition 
Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the financial assets. 
 
(f) Income tax 
The income tax expense or revenue for the year is the tax payable on the current year’s taxable income based on the applicable income tax 
rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax 
losses. 
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period 
in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and associated operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes 
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 
  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



 
 Emu NL 

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

21 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it 
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted 
or substantially enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred 
income tax liability is settled. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable 
amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments 
in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that 
the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the 
deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally 
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 
 
(g) Leases 
Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Group as lessee are classified as operating 
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease. 
 
(h) Impairment of assets 
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or 
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised 
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. Note that exploration and evaluation expenditures are expensed as incurred – see note 1(l).  
 
(i) Cash and cash equivalents 
For statement of cash flows presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial 
institutions, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
(j) Investments and other financial assets 
Classification 
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans and receivables; and available-for-sale financial assets. The 
classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial 
assets at initial recognition. 

(i) Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They 
are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost less impairment. They are included in current assets, except for 
those with maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting date which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are 
included in trade and other receivables in the statement of financial position. 

(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category 
or not classified in any other category. They are included in non-current assets unless the investment matures or management intends to 
dispose of the investment within 12 months of the end of the reporting period. Investments are designated as available-for-sale if they do 
not have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable payments and management intends to hold them for the medium to long term. 
Recognition and derecognition 
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the 
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred 
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in other comprehensive income 
are reclassified to profit or loss as gains and losses from investment securities. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Measurement 
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial asset. 
Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value.  Changes in the fair value of securities classified as available-for-
sale are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
Impairment 
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets 
is impaired. If there is evidence of impairment for any of the Group’s financial assets carried at amortised cost, the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, excluding future credit losses that 
have not been incurred. The cash flows are discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the 
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income. 
If there is objective evidence of impairment for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between 
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss – is 
removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss. 

(k) Plant and equipment 
All plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items. 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 
to the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 
Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated using the prime cost method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their 
residual values, over their estimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold improvements and certain leased plant and equipment, the 
shorter lease term. The rates are 20% per annum. 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount (note 1(h)). 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the statement of profit 
and loss and other comprehensive income. 

(l) Exploration and evaluation costs 
All exploration and evaluation expenditure is expensed to the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income as incurred. 
That the carrying value of mineral assets, as a result of the operation of this policy, is zero does not necessarily reflect the board’s view as 
to the market value of those assets. 

(m) Trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year which are unpaid. 
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are paid on normal commercial terms. 

(n) Employee benefits 
Wages and salaries and annual leave 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the 
reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

(o) Share-based payments 
The Group may provide benefits to employees (including directors) of the Group, and to vendors and suppliers, in the form of equity-based 
payment transactions, whereby employees render services, or where vendors sell assets to the Group, in exchange for shares or rights over 
shares (‘equity-settled transactions’), refer to note 23. 
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the “fair value”, not market value. The “fair value” is 
determined in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.  The Directors do not consider the resultant value as determined in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (such as by the application of the Black-Scholes European Option Pricing Model) 
represents market value. In the case of share options issued, in the absence of a reliable measure, AASB 2 Share Based Payments prescribes 
the approach to be taken to determining the fair value. The Black-Scholes European Option Pricing Model is an industry accepted method 
of valuing share options. Other models may be used. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the 
performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (‘vesting 
date’). 
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects (i) the extent to which 
the vesting period has expired and (ii) the number of options that, in the opinion of the directors of the Group, will ultimately vest. This 
opinion is formed based on the best available information at balance date. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance 
conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date. 
No expense is recognised for options that do not ultimately vest, except for options where vesting is conditional upon a market condition. 
Where an option is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the option
is recognised immediately. However, if a new option is substituted for the cancelled option, and designated as a replacement option on the 
date that it is granted, the cancelled and new option are treated as a modification of the original option. 
 
(p) Issued capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
 
(q) Earnings per share 
(i) Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the company, excluding any costs of servicing equity 
other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus 
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year. 

(ii) Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after income 
tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares 
assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
 
(r) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from the 
taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are 
recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 
 
(s) New accounting standards for application in future periods 
There are a number of new accounting standards and interpretations issued by the AASB that are not yet mandatorily applicable to the 
Group and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements.  The Group does not plan to adopt these standards 
early. 
These standards are not expected to have a material impact on the Group in the current or future reporting periods.   

t) Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
The preparation of these financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to 
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are: 

Taxation 
Balances disclosed in the financial statements and the notes thereto related to taxation are based on the best estimates of the directors. 
These estimates take into account both the financial performance and position of the Group as they pertain to current income taxation 
legislation, and the directors understanding thereof. No adjustment has been made for pending or future taxation legislation. The current 
income tax position represents that directors’ best estimate, pending an assessment by the Australian Taxation Office. 

Environmental issues 
Balances disclosed in the financial statements and notes thereto are not adjusted for any pending or enacted environmental legislation and 
the directors understanding thereof.  At the current stage of the Group’s development and its current environmental impact, the directors 
believe such treatment is reasonable and appropriate. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Share-based payments 
Share-based payment transactions, in the form of options to acquire ordinary shares, are valued using the Black-Scholes option or other 
recognised pricing model.  Models use assumptions and estimates as inputs. 
Whilst the Directors do not consider the result derived by the application of, say, the Black-Scholes European Option Pricing Model is in 
anyway representative of the market value of the share options issued, in the absence of reliable measure for the same, AASB 2 Share 
Based Payments prescribes the fair value be determined by applying a generally accepted valuation methodology. The Company has 
adopted the Black-Scholes European Option Pricing Model for presently relevant purposes. Other recognised models may be used. 
 
2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit 
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program  includes consideration of the unpredictability of financial markets 
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group in the context of the board’s judgement as to an 
acceptable balance as between risk/reward in the context of the Company and all the prevailing circumstances. 
Risk management is carried out by a risk management committee comprised of the full board of Directors as the Group believes, given the 
circumstances of the Company, that it is crucial for all board members to be involved in this process. Therefore, all Directors have
responsibility for identifying, assessing, treating and monitoring risks and reporting to the board on risk management. 
 
(a) Market risk 
(i) Foreign exchange risk 
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from the United States Dollar (USD) denominated bank accounts and receivables 
held by the Group.. 
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is 
not the entity’s functional currency and net investments in foreign operations. The Group’s cash is held all in A$ and US$. The Group’s 
foreign currency risk management policy is to minimise foreign exchanges losses through diligent forecasting servicing requirements, 
monitoring relevant currencies, and exercising a business judgement as to what steps will produce the best result. The Company is not in 
the business of trying to make money form currency transactions. 
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk as the end of the reporting period was as follows: 
  2018 2017 
Cash and cash equivalents  $US2,204 $US613,662 
Cash and cash equivalents  CLP9,922,917 -  
Receivables  $US17,800 $US15,051 

Sensitivity analysis 
Based on the financial instruments held at 30 June 2018, had the Australian dollar weakened or strengthened by 10% against the USD and 
Chilean Peso (CLP) with all other variables held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss would have been $4,365 lower or higher (2017: $82,034
lower or higher) as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of the USD and Chilean Peso denominated financial instruments. 
Other components of equity would not be materially impacted by the foreign exchange movements. 
(ii) Price risk 
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk. This arises from investments held by the Group and classified in the statement of 
financial position as available-for-sale. Given the current level of operations, the Group is not currently directly exposed to commodity 
price risk. 
The Group’s equity investments are publicly traded on the ASX and TSX-V, as well as some unlisted securities (such as options over 
unissued shares), with the investments being made for strategic purposes identified by the board of Directors. The price risk is monitored 
by the board and evaluated in accordance with these strategic outcomes. The board does not currently intend on making any additional 
investments but reserves the right to do so. 

Sensitivity analysis 
At 30 June 2018, if the value of the equity instruments held had increased or decreased by 15% with all other variables held constant, post-
tax loss for the Group would not have changed and equity would have been $15,939 higher or lower as a result of gains or losses on equity 
securities classified as available-for-sale (2017: $9,572 higher (or lower)). 

(iii) Interest rate risk 
The Group is exposed to movements in market interest rates on cash and cash equivalents. The Group’s policy is to monitor the interest 
rate yield curve out to six months to seek a balance between the liquidity of cash assets and the interest rate return. The entire balance of 
cash and cash equivalents for the Group $750,056 (2017: $2,749,349) is subject to interest rate risk. The weighted average interest rate 
received on cash and cash equivalents by the Group was 0.91% (2017: 1.77%). 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d) 

Sensitivity analysis 
At 30 June 2018, if interest rates had changed by -/+ 100 basis points from the weighted average rate for the year with all other variables 
held constant, post-tax loss for the Group would have been $33,419 lower or higher (2017: $21,383 lower or higher) as a result of 
lower/higher interest income from cash and cash equivalents. 

(b) Credit risk 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date is the carrying amount (net of provision for impairment) of those assets as disclosed 
in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents. 
All surplus cash holdings within the Group are to be invested with financial institutions with a minimum “A” rating. 
The Group credit risk management practices involve regular reporting to the board as to where funds are invested, the term of the investment 
and current interest yield. 
 
(c) Liquidity risk 
The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and ensuring sufficient cash and marketable 
securities are available to meet the current and future commitments of the Group. Debt and equity funding are options open to the Company. 
The board of Directors constantly monitor the state of equity markets in conjunction with the Group’s current and future funding 
requirements, with a view to ensuring the Group has adequate funds available. 
The financial liabilities of the Group are confined to trade and other payables as disclosed in the statement of financial position. All trade 
and other payables are non-interest bearing and due within 12 months of the reporting date. 
 
(d) Fair value measurements 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes. 
All financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group at the balance date are recorded at amounts approximating their fair value. 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The quoted market 
price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. All of the Group’s available-for-sale financial assets for which a 
value has been recognised are publicly traded on the ASX and TSX-V and are classified as level 1 on the AASB 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures hierarchy. 
The carrying value, less impairment provision, of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their 
short-term nature. 
 
3. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Group has identified that it operates in only one segment based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the board of 
directors (chief operating decision makers) in assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources.  The Group's principal 
activity is the identification acquisition and exploration of mineral assets. 
  Consolidated 

  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

4. REVENUE    
From continuing operations     
Other revenue     
Interest from banks and financial institutions  16,211 37,945 
  16,211 37,945 
 
5. EXPENSES    
Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses:     

Defined contribution superannuation expense  29,871 9,455 

Minimum lease payments relating to operating leases  36,000 36,000 

Foreign exchange losses  6,742 1,281 

Net loss on sale of available-for-sale financial assets  -  11,679 

Unrealised loss on available-for-sale financial assets  -  36,287 
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  Consolidated 

  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

6. INCOME TAX    
(a) Income tax expense    
Current tax  - - 
Deferred tax  - - 
  - - 
    
(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax 

payable    
Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense  (3,273,282) (2,795,309) 
    
Prima facie tax benefit at the Australian tax rate of 30%   (981,985) (838,593) 
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating 
taxable income:    

Sundry items   55,098 119,664 
  (926,887) (718,929) 
    
Movements in unrecognised temporary differences  4,479 (1,627) 
Tax effect of current year tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been 
recognised   922,408 720,556 
Income tax expense   - - 
 
(c) Unrecognised temporary differences     
Deferred Tax Assets (at 30%)    
On Income Tax Account
    
Section 40-880 costs   40,002 32,455 
Sundry items  5,574  
Carry forward tax losses  4,182,010 3,259,600 
  4,227,586 3,292,055 
    
Deferred Tax Liabilities (at 30%)    
Sundry items  4,479 3,545 

Net deferred tax assets have not been brought to account as it is not probable within the immediate future that tax profits will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised. 

The Group’s ability to use losses in the future is subject to the Group satisfying the relevant tax authority’s criteria for using these losses. 

 
7. CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash at bank and in hand   750,056 928,927 
Short-term deposits  - 1,820,422 
Cash and cash equivalents as shown in the statement of financial position and 
the statement of cash flows  750,056 2,749,349 

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 

Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and four months depending on the immediate cash requirements of 
the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. 
 
8. CURRENT ASSETS - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

Trade receivables  36,804 31,509 
Project assessment bond – refunded subsequent to end of year  54,062 - 
GST refundable  5,820 11,375 
   96,686 42,884 
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  Consolidated 

  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

9. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS   
Equity securities in listed entities  106,258 63,813 

The market value of all equity investments represent the fair value based on quoted prices on active markets (ASX and TSX-V) as at the 
reporting date without any deduction for transaction costs. These investments are classified as Level 1 financial instruments. There have 
been no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy used in measuring the fair value of these financial instruments, or changes in 
its classification as a result of a change in the purpose or use of these assets. 
 
10. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Plant and equipment     
Cost   67,809 61,553 
Accumulated depreciation   (22,699) (10,480) 
Net book amount   45,110 51,073 

Plant and equipment     
Opening net book amount   51,073 1,900 
Additions  6,257 52,184 
Disposals  - - 
Depreciation charge   (12,220) (3,011) 
Closing net book amount   45,110 51,073 
 
11. CURRENT LIABILITIES - TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Trade payables   110,200 4,691 
Other payables and accruals   17,000 200,665 
Share application monies received – shares issued subsequent to end of year  573,560 - 
   700,760 205,356 
 
12. CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS 

Annual leave provision   1,581 2,068 
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13. ISSUED CAPITAL    

  2018 2017 

 Notes 
Number of 
securities $ Number of 

securities $ 

(a) Share capital      
Ordinary shares:      
 Fully paid 13(c), 13(e) 77,962,230 13,687,753 65,910,387 13,013,177 
 Contributing shares - partly paid to $0.03 with $0.03 

to pay – no call to be made before 31 December 
2018 13(c), 13(e) 33,668,824 1,164,236 36,580,667 1,133,036 

Total ordinary share capital  111,631,054 14,851,989 102,491,054 14,146,213 
      
 
(b) Other equity securities      
Options 13(d) 5,050,000 - 4,050,000 - 
      
Total issued capital   14,851,989  14,146,213 
      
(c) Movements in ordinary share capital    
Beginning of the financial year  102,491,054 14,146,213 75,557,834 10,874,479 
Options issued for cash ‘converted’ to shares    -  301,387 
Issued during the year:      
 Fully paid, issued for cash at 10 cents per share upon 

exercise of options  -  -  15,058,220 1,505,822 
 Partly paid, issued for cash at 3 cents per share upon 

exercise of options over partly-paid shares  1,140,000 34,200 -  -  
 1,822,700 fully paid, issued upon payment of 

outstanding $0.03 and conversion of contributing 
shares  -  -  -  54,680 

 4,051,843 fully paid, issued upon payment of 
outstanding $0.03 and conversion of contributing 
shares  - 121,556 -  -  

 Placement fully paid shares  4,000,000 600,000 6,250,000 1,000,000 
 Placement of ordinary shares to Acuity Capital  4,000,000 -  -  -  
 Placement contributing shares  -  -  3,125,000 93,750 
 Fully paid shares issued as consideration for Chile 

option  -  -  2,500,000 400,000 
 Transaction costs   (49,980) - (89,625) 
 Options transferred to contributed equity  -  -  - 5,720 
       
End of the financial year  111,631,054 14,851,989 102,491,054 14,146,213 
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13. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued) 
 
(d) Movements in options on issue   

  Number of options 

  2018 2017 

Beginning of the financial year – 1 July 2017  4,050,000 15,058,220 
Exercised at $0.10, expiring 30 March 2017  -  (15,058,220) 
Issued, exercisable at $0.25, expiring 20 December 2018  -  300,000 
Issued, exercisable at $0.03 (to acquire contributing share), expiring 30 April 2018  2,000,004 -  
Exercised at $0.03, expiring 30 April 2018  (1,140,000) -  
Issued, exercisable at $0.03 (to acquire contributing share), expiring 30 April 2018 – Lapsed  (860,004) -  
Issued, exercisable at $0.10, expiring 30 June 2018  200,000 -  
Issued, exercisable at $0.10, expiring 30 June 2018 - Lapsed  (200,000) -  
Issued, exercisable at $0.10, expiring 20 December 2018  1,000,000 3,750,000 
End of the financial year – 30 June 2018  5,050,000 4,050,000 

(e) Ordinary fully and partly paid shares 
Ordinary shares (which include the contributing (or partly paid) shares) entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on 
winding up of the Company in proportion to the number of shares held, regardless of the amount paid up thereon. 
On a show of hands every holder of fully paid ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon 
a poll each share is entitled to one vote for each fully paid share and in respect of a partly paid share, a fraction of a vote equivalent to the 
proportion which the amount paid up bears to the total issue price. 
Ordinary shares have no par value and the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 
 
  Consolidated 

  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

    
(f) Capital risk management 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern and to take advantage of organic 
and acquisitive mineral property opportunities, so that it may strive to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.
Debt and equity funding options are open to the Group.  The working capital position of the Group at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 are 
as follows: 
Cash and cash equivalents  750,056 2,749,349 
Trade and other receivables   96,686 42,884 
Other assets  19,820 3,181 
Trade and other payables  (700,760) (205,356) 
Provisions  (1,581) (2,068) 
Working capital position   164,221 2,587,990 
 
14. RESERVES    
(a) Reserves    
Available-for-sale financial assets  42,445 - 
Share-based payments reserve   501,524 363,750 
  543,969 363,750 

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves 
(i) Available-for-sale financial assets reserve 
Changes in the fair value and exchange differences arising on translation of investments, such as equities, classified as available-for-sale 
financial assets, are recognised in other comprehensive income, as described in note 1(j) and accumulated in a separate reserve within 
equity. Amounts are reclassified to profit or loss when the associated assets are sold or impaired. 
 
(ii) Share-based payments reserve 
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the “fair value” of options issued at the grant date.. 
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15. DIVIDENDS      
No dividends were paid during the financial year.  No recommendation for payment of dividends has been made. 
 
16. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS    
  Consolidated 

  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the Company, its related practices and non-
related audit firms: 
Audit and review of financial reports   22,800 23,300 
Tax compliance services  2,750 2,500 
Total remuneration   25,550 25,800 
 
17. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 

The Group has a contingent asset, being a cause of action it contends to have against Territory Minerals Limited (ACN 121 200 299) and/or 
parties associated with it (including without limitation Ron Stanley and Ron Stanley & Associates) in relation to the lost opportunity, costs 
and expenses incurred and thrown away as a result of Ron Stanley & Associates repudiation of an agreement whereby Emu could, subject 
to various conditions, acquire an interest in certain exploration tenements held (or claimed to be held) by Territory Minerals Limited in 
Queensland.  
Other than as described above, there are no material contingent liabilities or contingent assets of the Group at the reporting date. 
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements, the Group will be required to outlay approximately $22,000 
(2017: $50,000) in the following financial year in respect of tenement concession renewal fees and rents to meet minimum expenditure 
requirements under the Chile option agreement.  These obligations are expected to be fulfilled in the normal course of operations and have 
not been provided for in the financial report.  
  Consolidated 

  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS      
(a) Parent entity 
The ultimate parent entity within the Group is Emu NL. 
 
(b) Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 19. 
 
(c) Key management personnel compensation 
Short-term benefits  382,591 330,000 
Post-employment benefits  15,392 6,270 
Share-based payments  -  345,000 
  397,983 681,270 

Refer to the Remuneration Report contained in the Directors’ Report for the details of the remuneration paid or payable and the share and 
option holdings in relation to each of the Group’s KMP for the year ended 30 June 2018. 
 
(d) Loans to related parties 
Emu NL has unsecured, interest free loans with its wholly owned subsidiaries, (i) Emu Blue Pty Ltd, totalling $598,795 receivable at 
30 June 2018 (2017: $507,984) and (ii) Emu Chile SpA, totalling $1,882,815 receivable at 30 June 2018.  
An impairment assessment is undertaken each financial year by the respective lender at that point in time to determine the ability of the 
borrower to repay the amount outstanding. When objective evidence of impairment exists, the lending entity is to recognise an allowance 
for the impairment loss.  
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18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 

 
(e) Transactions with other related parties 
Transactions with director related entities    
  Consolidated 
  2018 2017 
Key Management Personnel and Related Entity Transaction $ $ 

Peter Thomas Contrib early conversion fees 1,000 -  
Greg Steemson – GH Steemson Family 
Superannuation Fund Contrib early conversion fees 1,200 -  
Gavin Rutherford Contrib early conversion fees 800 -  

There were no balances outstanding at reporting date in relation to the above transactions, and the transactions were made on normal 
commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. 

Other transactions with key management personnel 
The Group is party to a Lease Agreement with Mr Peter Thomas, Chairman, whereby Mr Thomas has agreed to provide the Group with 
office accommodation for a fee of $3,000 per month, terminable at will by either party on one month’s notice, which commenced on 
1 January 2013. Rental paid during the year totalled $36,000 (2017: $36,000), and there was nil outstanding at the reporting date (2017: nil).
 
19. SUBSIDIARIES      
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance with the 
accounting policy described in Note 1(b): 
Name Country of Incorporation Class of Shares Equity Holding(1) 

    2018 2017 

    % % 

Emu Blue Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Emu Chile SpA Chile Ordinary 100 100 

(1) The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held. 

 
 
20. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 

Since the reporting date:  

a) On 18 July 2018, 4,894,330 fully paid ordinary shares were issued at $0.048 per share in respect of share application monies 
received prior to 30 June 2018 (refer to note 13) as part of the “first tranche” of a placement;  

b) On 30 August 2018, 8,143,168 fully paid ordinary shares were issued at $0.048 per share (in respect of share application monies 
mostly received prior to 30 June 2018 (refer to note 13) as part of the “second tranche” of a placement;  

c) On 30 August 2018, 2;000,000 options to acquire fully paid ordinary shares (1,500,000 of which are in respect of services 
provided) were issued to the General Manager as employee share options.  

No other events or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or which in the judgement of 
the board may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future 
financial periods. 
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 Consolidated 
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

   
21. CASH FLOW INFORMATION    
Reconciliation of net loss after income tax to net cash outflow from 
operating activities    
Net loss for the year  (3,273,282) (2,795,309) 
Non-Cash Items    
Depreciation of non-current assets  12,220 3,011 
Net loss on sale of plant and equipment  - - 
Net loss (gain) on sale of investments   11,679 
Unrealised loss on available-for-sale financial assets   36,287 
Net exchange differences   1,281 
Share-based payments expenses  137,774 763,750 
Change in operating assets and liabilities    
(Increase) in trade and other receivables  (53,803) (6,596) 
(Increase) decrease in prepayments  (16,638) 10,951 
Increase in trade and other payables  495,404 185,726 
(Decrease) increase in provisions  (487) 1,013 
Net cash outflow from operating activities  (2,698,812) (1,788,207) 
 
22. LOSS PER SHARE    
(a) Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating loss per share    
Loss attributable to the owners of the Company used in calculating basic and 
diluted loss per share   (3,230,837) (2,795,309) 

  Number of shares 

  2018 2017 

(b) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator    
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in 
calculating basic
  107,192,881 83,397,217 

(c) Information on the classification of options 
As the Group has made a loss for the year ended 30 June 2018, no options on issue have been included in the calculation of diluted earnings 
per share. These options could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future. 
 
23.   SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

Options issued to employees 
The Group may provide benefits to employees (including directors) and contractors of the Group in the form of share-based payment 
transactions, whereby, for instance, options to acquire ordinary shares may be issued as an incentive to improve employee and shareholder 
goal congruence. The exercise price of options so issued during the period and outstanding at 30 June 2018 is 10 cents (1,000,000 with an
expiry date of 20 December 2018. 
Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights. When exercised, each option “converts” into one ordinary fully paid share of the 
Company with full dividend and voting rights. 
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23.   SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (cont’d) 

Set out below are summaries of the options granted: 
 Consolidated 

 2018 2017 

 

Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
cents 

Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
cents 

Outstanding at the beginning of the financial year 4,050,000 11.11 200,000 10.0 
Granted 1,200,000 10.0 3,750,000 10.0 
Expired  (200,000) 10.0  -  -  
Granted -  - -  300,000 25.0 
Exercised  -  -  (200,000) 10.0 
Outstanding at year-end  5,050,000 10.89 4,050,000 11.1 
Exercisable at year-end  5,050,000 10.89 4,050,000 11.1 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the financial year was 1.45 years 
(2017:1.47  years), and the weighted average exercise price is 10.89 cents. 

The weighted average “fair value” (determined in accordance with accounting standards, which does not represent the view of the directors 
with respect to the market value of those options – see notes 1(o) and (t) regarding share-based payments) of the options granted during 
the year was 10.89 cents (2017: 11.11 cents). The fair value was calculated by using the Black-Scholes European Option Pricing Model 
applying the following inputs: 
 2018 2017 

Weighted average exercise price (cents) 10.0 11.1 
Weighted average life of the option (years) 1.37 1.85 
Weighted average underlying share price (cents) 12.0 16.1 
Weighted average expected share price volatility 97.1% 84.3% 
Weighted average risk-free interest rate 1.8% 1.8% 

 

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the period were as follows: 
 Consolidated 
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Shares issued to vendor of Chile gold project -  400,000 
Options issued to employees and contractors shown as share-based payments 137,774 363,750 

Total 137,774 763,750 
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24. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION    
The following information relates to the parent entity, Emu NL, at 30 June 2018. The information presented here has been prepared using 
accounting policies consistent with those presented in Note 1. 
  Consolidated 
  2018 2017 
  $ $ 
Current assets   896,846 2,772,009 
Non-current assets  151,368 622,873 
Total assets  1,048,214 3,394,882 
    
Current liabilities  732,625 207,424 
Total liabilities  732,625 207,424 
    
Contributed equity  14,851,989 14,146,213 
Reserves  464,895 363,750 
Accumulated losses  (15,001,295) (11,322,506) 
Total equity  315,589 3,187,457 
    
Loss for the year  (3,678,789) (2,736,292) 
Other comprehensive income  --  (35,800) 
Total comprehensive income for the year  (3,678,789) (2,772,092) 
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Directors' Declaration 
 
In the directors’ opinion: 
(a) the financial statements comprising the statements of financial performance, statements of financial position, statements of changes 

in equity, statements of cash flows and accompanying notes set out on pages 15 to 35 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including: 
(i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 

requirements; and 
(ii) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of their 

performance for the financial year ended on that date; 
(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; 
(c) the remuneration disclosures included in the Directors’ Report (as part of the audited Remuneration Report), for the year ended 

30 June 2018, comply with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001; and 
(d) a statement that the attached financial statements are in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards has been 

included in the notes to the financial statements. 

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

Electronic Signature noted as having been affixed with approval 

Peter S Thomas 
Non-Executive Chairman 
Perth, 28 September 2018 
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Independent Audit Report to the members of Emu NL 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Emu NL (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprises the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors' 
declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

 (i) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its financial performance for the year 
then ended; and 

 (ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described as in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of 
the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements 
of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the code) 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code. 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the directors of 
the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor's report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

 
Going Concern 
 

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the matter 

The Group is at the early stage of exploration 
of various tenements. 
 
Under AASB101: Presentation of Financial 
Statements, the directors of the Group are 
required to assess the appropriateness of the 
preparation of the financial report on a going 
concern basis.  
 
The Group has prepared cash flow projections 
which include a number of estimates of equity 
raising. These projections are used to support 
the sufficiency of working capital. 
 
 
 
 
 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to, the following: 
 
 Obtaining management’s assessment of the going concern basis of 

preparation by reviewing future plans and tested cash flow projections 
prepared by the Group for consistency with our understanding of 
planned activities; 
 

 Held discussions with management as to any future capital raisings 
and tested the forecasted cash flows for the twelve-month period from 
the date of signing the financial statements for mathematical accuracy; 

 
 Comparing forecast expenditure against actual levels of expenditure 

for the 2017 financial year and obtaining explanations for any 
significant variances; 
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This area is a key audit matter due to the 
nature of the business, and the current 
financial position. Should it be inappropriate for 
the financial statements to be prepared on the 
going concern basis the values of certain 
assets and liabilities as set out in the financial 
statements might be significantly different. As 
such, the use of the going concern assumption 
requires proper and due consideration. 
 

 Obtained representations from management and the directors as to the 
adequacy of cash resources; and 

 
 Assessed the adequacy and completeness of related disclosures in the 

financial statements. 
 

Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Review of Operations and Directors 
Report and other information included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2018 but does not include the 
financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. 

The other information obtained at the date of this auditor’s report is included in the annual report, (but does not include the 
financial report and our auditor’s report thereon).  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard. 

Responsibilities of Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used in the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, used on the audit 
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evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of 
the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors' report for the year ended 30 June 2018. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of EMU NL, for the year ended 30 June 2018, complies with section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based 
on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
 
 

 
 
 
Greenwich & Co Audit Pty Ltd 
 

 
 
 
Rafay Nabeel 
Audit Director 
 
Perth 
 
29 September 2018  
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 Emu NL 

 

ASX Additional Information 
 
Additional information required by Australian Stock Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in this report is as follows.  
The information is current as at 25 September 2018.  

(a)  Distribution of equity securities 
Analysis of numbers of equity security holders by size of holding: 
 Ordinary shares Contributing shares 
   Number of holders Number of shares Number of holders Number of shares 
1 - 1,000 40 12,360 17 7,955 
1,001 - 5,000 50 140,976 34 91,601 
5,001 - 10,000 51 406,135 23 175,065 
10,001 - 100,000 228 8,706,650 81 3,815,576 
100,001  and over 121 81,733,607 35 29,578,627 
   490 90,999,728 190 33,668,824 
The number of shareholders holding less 
than a marketable parcel of shares are: 149 645,905 

  

 
(b)  Twenty largest shareholders of quoted ordinary shares 
The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted ordinary shares are: 
  Listed ordinary shares 
  Number of shares Percentage of 

ordinary shares 
1 Steemson Geoscience Pty Ltd <GH Steemson Family Super A/c>  8,507,012 9.35 
2 Northern Griffin Pty Ltd 7,511,877 8.25 
3 King Wallace F + J I <Karta Koomba Super A/c> 5,044,947 5.54 
4 Acuity Capital Investment Management Pty Ltd 4,000,000 4.40 
5 Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 3,452,210 3.79 
6 St Barnabas Investments Pty Ltd <Melvista Family A/C> 2,550,000 2.80 
7 Rutherford GAR and ML <Gavelle S/F A/c> 2,486,365 2.73 
8 Cozzi Paul 1,862,430 2.05 
9 Le Chem Pty Ltd <Prop 10 Unit A/c> 1,806,550 1.99 
10 Green Drilling Pty Ltd 1,420,000 1.56 
11 Oceanic Capital Pty Ltd 1,354,166 1.49 
12 Hart A C + P <Hart Family S/F A/C>  1,260,000 1.38 
13 Payzone Pty Ltd <St Barnabas Super A/c> 1,230,008 1.35 
14 Tate Steven L and SN 1,150,851 1.26 
15 Stedman Kim M + JC <J&K Stedman S/F A/c> 1,000,000 1.10 
16 AWD Cons Pty Ltd 1,000,000 1.10 
17 Zeller David J <Zeller Family A/c> 935,508 1.03 
18 Horn Resources Pty Ltd 929,917 1.02 
19 WIT Team Enterprises Ltd 915,747 1.01 
20 Maraldo Shane John + AL <Maraldo Family S/F A/c> 857,832 0.94 

  49,275,420 54.15 
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 Emu NL 

 
ASX Additional Information (continued) 
 
(c)  Twenty largest shareholders of quoted contributing shares 
The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted contributing shares are: 
  Listed contributing shares 
  Number of 

contributing shares 
Percentage of 

contributing shares 
1 Steemson G H + B F <GH Steemson Family Super A/c> 8,570,884 25.46 
2 Northern Griffin Pty Ltd 7,198,522 21.38 
3 King Wallace F + J I <Karta Koomba Super A/c> 2,510,606 7.46 
4 Byron Exploration Pty Ltd 1,560,706 4.64 
5 Rutherford G A R + M L <Gavelle S/F A/c> 1,313,397 3.90 
6 Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 950,370 2.82 
7 Payzone PL <St Barnabas Super A/c> 799,957 2.38 
8 Wonfair Inv Pty Ltd 683,333 2.03 
9 Leo Kevin Anthony + L <Leo S/F A/c> 551,843 1.64 
10 Sept Rouges Ltd 505,239 1.50 
11 Thomas Peter S 438,540 1.30 
12 St Barnabas Investments Pty Ltd <Melvista Family A/c> 412,400 1.22 
13 Tate Steven L + SN 398,579 1.18 
14 Sengupta Arun + SJ <Sengupta Fam S/F A/c> 392,500 1.17 
15 Cozzi Paul 280,000 0.83 
16 Baron Ian R 234,499 0.70 
17 Leeman Pty Ltd 234,418 0.70 
18 Anna Carina Pty Ltd <Anna Carina Family A/c> 233,750 0.69 
19 MPL 16 Pty Ltd <MS & SL Evans Family A/c> 200,000 0.59 
20 Southtrac Pty Ltd <Blincow Family Super A/c> 200,000 0.59 

  27,669,543 82.18 
 
(d)  Substantial shareholders 
The names of substantial shareholders who have notified the Company in accordance with section 671B of the Corporations Act 2001 are:

 Number of Ordinary 
Shares 

Number of 
Contributing Shares 

G H and B F Steemson 8,507,012 8,570,884 
P S Thomas 7,782,967 7,670,651 
W F and J I King 4,214,947 1,479,381 
 
(e)  Voting rights 
All fully ordinary shares carry one vote per share. Each contributing share has a voting entitlement proportionate to the amount paid up 
thereon relative to the entire amount payable (including the amount paid but ignoring amounts credited as paid). 
 
(f)  Unquoted Securities 
   Holders of 20% or more of the class* 

Class 
Number of 
Securities 

Number of 
Holders Holder Name 

Number of 
Securities 

Unlisted $0.10 Options, expiry 20 December 2018 4,750,000 5 N/A* N/A* 
Unlisted $0.25 Options, expiry 20 December 2018 300,000 1 N/A* N/A* 
Unlisted $0.11 Options, expiry 20 December 2018 2,000,000 1 N/A* N/A* 
* Not applicable for securities issued under an employee incentive scheme.  
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 Emu NL 

 
ASX Additional Information (continued) 
 
(g)  Schedule of interests in mining tenements 
Location Tenement Percentage held / earning* 
Atacama Region, Chile VIDALITA A1 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement and Prospex’s Option Agreement 
Atacama Region, Chile VIDALITA B1 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement and Prospex’s Option Agreement 
Atacama Region, Chile VIDALITA C1 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement and Prospex’s Option Agreement 
Atacama Region, Chile VIDALITA D1 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement and Prospex’s Option Agreement 
Atacama Region, Chile VIDALITA E1 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement and Prospex’s Option Agreement 
Atacama Region, Chile VIDALITA F1 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement and Prospex’s Option Agreement 
Atacama Region, Chile VIDALOTA A Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile VIDALOTA B Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile VIDALOTA C Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile VIDALOTA D Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile VIDALOTA E Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile CICLOPE TUERTO 1 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile CICLOPE TUERTO 2 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile CICLOPE TUERTO 3 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile CICLOPE TUERTO 4 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile CICLOPE TUERTO 5 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile CICLOPE TUERTO 6 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile CICLOPE TUERTO 7 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile CICLOPE TUERTO 8 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile CICLOPE TUERTO 9 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile Peon 1 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile Peon 2 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile Peon 3 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile Peon 4 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile Peon 5 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile Peon 6 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile Peon 7 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile Peon 8 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile Peon 9 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile Peon 10 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile Peon 11 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile Peon 12 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile Peon 13 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile Peon 14 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile Peon 15 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile Peon 16 Option to acquire 100% (Emu’s Option Agreement) 
Atacama Region, Chile Tierra 1 100% owned by Emu but subject to Prospex's Option Agreement if within 5km of Prospex ground 
Atacama Region, Chile Tierra 2 100% owned by Emu but subject to Prospex's Option Agreement if within 5km of Prospex ground 
Atacama Region, Chile Tierra 3 100% owned by Emu but subject to Prospex's Option Agreement if within 5km of Prospex ground 
Atacama Region, Chile Tierra 4 100% owned by Emu but subject to Prospex's Option Agreement if within 5km of Prospex ground 
Atacama Region, Chile Tierra 5 100% owned by Emu but subject to Prospex's Option Agreement if within 5km of Prospex ground 
Atacama Region, Chile Tierra 6 100% owned by Emu but subject to Prospex's Option Agreement if within 5km of Prospex ground 
Atacama Region, Chile Tierra 7 100% owned by Emu but subject to Prospex's Option Agreement if within 5km of Prospex ground 
Atacama Region, Chile Tierra 8 100% owned by Emu but subject to Prospex's Option Agreement if within 5km of Prospex ground 
Atacama Region, Chile Tierra 9 100% owned by Emu but subject to Prospex's Option Agreement if within 5km of Prospex ground 
Atacama Region, Chile Tierra 10 100% owned by Emu but subject to Prospex's Option Agreement if within 5km of Prospex ground 
Atacama Region, Chile Tierra 11 100% owned by Emu but subject to Prospex's Option Agreement if within 5km of Prospex ground 
Atacama Region, Chile Tierra 12 100% owned by Emu but subject to Prospex's Option Agreement if within 5km of Prospex ground 
Atacama Region, Chile Tierra 13 100% owned by Emu but subject to Prospex's Option Agreement if within 5km of Prospex ground 
Atacama Region, Chile Tierra 14 100% owned by Emu but subject to Prospex's Option Agreement if within 5km of Prospex ground 
Atacama Region, Chile Tierra 15 100% owned by Emu but subject to Prospex's Option Agreement if within 5km of Prospex ground 

*Refer to Review of Operations – Activities – Chilean assets (page 3) for a description of the projects and, in particular, Prospex’s Option Agreement and 
Emu’s Option Agreement. 
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